### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Case No. SC96217 TFB No. 1998-11,854(13A)

Complainant,

vs.

KAREN SCHMID COX

Respondent.

## INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

/

Debra Joyce Davis Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Suite C-49 Tampa Airport Marriott Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 875-9821 Florida Bar No. 0093556

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Florida Bar filed a Complaint in this matter on August 10, 1999. By order dated August 20, 1999, The Honorable Wayne L. Cobb, Circuit Court Judge, in and for the Sixth Judicial Circuit, was appointed referee in this case.

Hearings held in this matter on December 10, 1999 and December 14, 1999, were followed on December 16, 1999, by the Referee's issuance of a Preliminary Report of Referee [On Guilt] finding Respondent guilty of violating all rules charged in the Bar's Complaint as follows: Rule 4-3.3(a)(1) (a lawyer shall not knowingly make a false statement of material fact or law to a tribunal); Rule 4-3.3(a)(4) (a lawyer shall not knowingly permit any witness to offer testimony or other evidence that the lawyer knows to be false); Rule 4-3.4(a) (a lawyer shall not unlawfully obstruct another party's access to evidence or otherwise unlawfully alter, destroy or conceal a document or other material that the lawyer knows or reasonably should know is relevant to a pending or forseeable proceeding; or counsel or assist another person to do such an act) and Rule 4-3.4(b) (a lawyer shall not fabricate evidence, counsel or assist a witness to testify falsely).

A hearing on discipline was held December 30, 1999. On January 13, 2000, the Referee issued a Report of Referee recommending that Respondent receive a public reprimand. The Referee further recommended that Respondent be placed on probation for a period of one year, during which Respondent would be required to complete 15 hours of approved continuing legal ethics education and to pay the costs of the proceeding to The Florida Bar. On February 10, 2000, the Referee filed an Amended Report of Referee (Amended to Correct TFB No.) solely to correct the TFB number.

The Referee's report was considered by the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar at its meeting which ended February 4, 2000, at which time the Board voted to file a Petition for Review of the Referee's report and request a three (3) year suspension. The Florida Bar filed a Petition for Review of the Referee's report with this Court on or about February 17, 2000. Pursuant to Rule 3-7.7, the jurisdiction of this Court is invoked.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The material facts in this case are undisputed. Respondent became an Assistant United States Attorney in 1997, after a successful career as an Assistant State Attorney in Hillsborough County spanning in excess of twelve years. (TT 29 -30). In May 1998, while prosecuting a case in her position as an Assistant United States Attorney, Respondent knowingly allowed a government witness to testify under a false name in a federal criminal trial, without court approval and without the knowledge of the defense. (TFB Exh. 19; p. 11). Respondent also directly aided the concealment of the witness' true identity by identifying her at trial to the judge, jury, and defense using only the false name, and by placing the false name on the Government's Witness List. (RR 5; TFB Exhs. 10 and 18).

On October 15, 1997, the United States of America indicted James R. Sterba for allegedly violating 18 U.S.C. §2422(b), by using the Internet to solicit a minor to engage in sexual activity. (TFB Exh. 9). United States Customs, through its Criminal Investigator Carole Dumestre, developed the case against Mr. Sterba using a confidential informant, Adria Meredith Jackson, to pose as a thirteen-year old girl in alleged online communications with Mr. Sterba. (RR 2). Assistant Federal Public Defender Anthony Martinez represented Mr. Sterba at trial, after his first court appointed attorney, John T. Kingston, withdrew. (TT 208; TFB Exh. 9).

On October 28, 1997, a United States Magistrate Judge issued a pretrial discovery order requiring the government to disclose certain information within the scope of <u>Giglio v. United States</u>, 405 U.S. 150 (1992). (TFB Exh. 1). On February 24, 1998, the Magistrate Judge issued an order denying Mr. Sterba's motion to interview and disclose the identity of the informant, without prejudice, however, the order provided that "[p]rior to the start of the trial, the name of this witness shall be given to defense counsel." (TFB Exh. 4). In the Government's

response in opposition to defendant's motion, Respondent represented: "The name of informant will be revealed, as the informant is expected to testify." (TFB Exh 3). However, Respondent never provided the informant's name or the required <u>Giglio</u> information prior to trial. (TT 212).

Adria Meredith Jackson had come to the attention of Customs as one of the subjects in a criminal investigation regarding Internet international child pornography trafficking. (TT 100). In connection with that investigation, Ms. Jackson tendered a proffer letter in Texas, whereby she agreed to provide any information she had about other subjects of the investigation. (TT 102). After electing not to prosecute Ms. Jackson, Customs took steps to use her as a confidential informant in other criminal investigations. (TT 102 - 103). Although Agent Dumestre performed database searches as to Ms. Jackson's criminal history, the same did not reveal Ms. Jackson had been sentenced under the Georgia First Offender Act. (R. Exhs. 1-5, 7).

Customs gave Ms. Jackson the option of using her own name or selecting an assumed name to use in her work as an informant. (TT 125). Ms. Jackson chose the fictitious name "Gracie Greggs" and used the same when signing Customs documents, including receipts for cash payments. (TT 125 - 126). Customs paid

Ms. Jackson \$2,000.00 in or around September 1997, for her assistance in the Sterba investigation (TT 119) and another \$2,000.00 in or around December 1997, for her assistance in an unrelated case for which Respondent was also the prosecuting attorney. (TT 119 - 120).

Shortly before trial, Ms. Jackson, then residing in Oklahoma, expressed concern to Agent Dumestre about having to testify under her real name. (TT 109). Agent Dumestre relayed to Respondent Ms. Jackson's request not to disclose her true identity, to which Respondent replied she would "handle it." (RR. 3; TT 110). Respondent knew Ms. Jackson's true identity before trial (TT 273 - 274). Respondent also knew that Ms. Jackson was an extremely reluctant witness, partly because she was involved in protracted custody litigation in Georgia with her former husband, and feared her involvement in child pornography investigations could jeopardize her custody of their minor daughter. (TT 61). Ms. Jackson had actually been noticed to appear in DeKalb County, Georgia in a contempt action filed against her by her former husband, on the same day she was scheduled to testify against Mr. Sterba. (TT 56 - 64).

Jury selection in the Sterba case began on May 18, 1998, without Respondent having disclosed the informant's name to the defense. During Voir Dire, Respondent read the name "Gracie Greggs" to prospective jurors, instead of Adria Jackson. (TT 91). The morning of trial, Respondent also presented to the court and to defendant's attorney a witness list naming "Gracie Greggs" instead of Adria Jackson. (TFB Exhs. 10 and 18). After referring to "Gracie Greggs" in her opening statement, Respondent called her first witness, "Gracie Greggs," to the stand. (TFB Exh. 15, p. 22). After the witness was sworn, Respondent asked "Are you Gracie Greggs?" to which Ms. Jackson replied "Yes." (TFB Exh. 15, p.24). Respondent then asked "Are you also Katie16140?" "Katie16140" was the screen name Ms. Jackson had used online. (TFB Exh. 15, p. 24).

Federal Public Defender Investigator, Joseph Palmer heard a portion of Ms. Jackson's testimony and then proceeded repeatedly and unsuccessfully throughout the day of the trial to locate information on "Gracie Greggs." (TT 215 -216). After both the prosecution and defense had rested, Mr. Martinez approached Respondent and advised her he had been unable to find any information on "Gracie Greggs." (TT 217). Respondent then revealed to Mr. Martinez the true name of the witness, Adria Jackson, and provided at least one other identifier for her. (TT 217 -218). Later that night, Investigator Palmer telephoned Mr. Martinez and advised that he had found information on Adria Jackson that would require further research. (TT 219).

The next morning, May 20, 1998, the Honorable Steven D. Merryday, United

States District Court Judge for the Middle District of Florida presiding, conducted a brief charge conference during which he specifically inquired about the informant and twice asked the Respondent the informant's name. (TFB Exh. 19; pp. 4, 8 - 9). Respondent steadfastly replied that the informant's name was "Gracie Greggs." (TFB Exh. 19; pp. 4, 8 - 9).

Shortly thereafter, when Respondent had not disclosed the true identity of the informant in response to questioning by the court, defense counsel so advised the court and moved for a mistrial. (TFB Exh. 19, pp. 10 - 13). Judge Merryday granted the mistrial and later dismissed the indictment with prejudice, finding that Respondent had knowingly disguised the identity of a government witness and deceptively used the name "Gracie Greggs." (United States of America v. James Sterba, 22 F. Supp. 2d 1333, 1334 (M.D. Fla. August 13, 1998) attached to Bar's Complaint).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Notwithstanding the Referee's finding of considerable mitigation, the recommended sanction of a public reprimand and one-year probation is insufficient given the gravity of the misconduct in the instant case. Respondent, a seasoned prosecutor, deliberately concealed the true identity of a government witness by allowing her to testify under a false name in a federal criminal trial, without court approval and without knowledge of the defense. Respondent's misconduct caused serious injury to the integrity of the legal process and also caused significant adverse effects on the legal proceeding, including the dismissal of the case with prejudice. Such blatant disregard for the constitutional rights of a criminal defendant and the requirement of complete candor toward the tribunal is serious misconduct, regardless of motive.

A public reprimand is inappropriate because it does not sufficiently address the seriousness of Respondent's misconduct and the adverse effects thereof. Moreover, a public reprimand is not sufficient to protect the public, encourage reformation, or deter others from engaging in similar misconduct. A three (3) year suspension is the appropriate sanction considering the seriousness of Respondent's conduct, the record herein, the relevant case law, aggravating and mitigating factors, and the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. <u>The Referee erred in recommending a public reprimand</u> for a prosecutor who intentionally allowed a witness to testify under a false name in a federal criminal trial, without court approval or knowledge of the defense, because such sanction does not adequately address the gravity of the misconduct.

In attorney disciplinary proceedings "a referee's findings of fact are presumed correct and this Court will not reweigh the evidence and substitute its judgment for that of the referee as long as the findings are not clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support." <u>The Florida Bar v. Beach</u>, 675 So.2d 106, 108 (Fla. 1996). A referee's legal conclusions, however, are subject to broader review by this Court than are findings of fact. <u>Id.</u> This Court has broader discretion to review a referee's recommended discipline, because it is this Court's "responsibility to order the appropriate punishment." <u>The Florida Bar v. Niles</u>, 644 So.2d 504, 506 (Fla. 1994). The referee erred in recommending a public reprimand in this case, because such sanction is not severe enough to address the seriousness of Respondent's misconduct and the substantial harm that resulted therefrom.

This Court has previously found that the knowing use of false testimony by an attorney in a criminal judicial proceeding is serious misconduct that warrants a severe penalty. As stated by this Court in <u>Dodd v. The Florida Bar</u>, 118 So.2d 17

9

(Fla. 1960), in affirming an order of disbarment:

No breach of professional ethics, or of the law, is more harmful to the administration of justice or more hurtful to the public appraisal of the legal profession than the knowledgeable use by an attorney of false testimony in the judicial process. When it is done it deserves the harshest penalty.

<u>Id</u>. at 19.

This Court relied on <u>Dodd</u> in <u>The Florida Bar v. Agar</u>, 394 So.2d 405, 406 (Fla. 1980), in finding that disbarment was the appropriate sanction in that case. In <u>Agar</u>, this Court recognized that lighter punishment had been given in similar cases, but noted that those cases represented the exception to the "general rule of strict discipline against deliberate, knowing elicitation or concealment of false testimony." <u>Id.</u>

Agar represented the husband in an uncontested divorce. Agar's secretary advised the wife that the wife could testify as to the husband's residency. Just before entering the courtroom, however, Agar advised the wife that the circuit court judge assigned to the case did not permit such testimony. Although he knew her to be the wife, Agar called her to the witness stand and allowed her to testify under a false name. The wife further concealed her relationship in the marriage, by testifying that she knew the husband because she had done bookkeeping for him. Both the husband and wife later testified that it was at Agar's suggestion that the wife falsely represented herself and concealed her relationship with the husband.

The referee found that Agar did:

(1) arrange, either actively or passively, for a witness to falsely testify before a court of competent jurisdiction, and (2) presented or called a witness on behalf of his client who he had good reason to know would falsely testify before a court of competent jurisdiction, and (3) as an officer of such court failed to immediately notify the judge of that court of such false testimony . . . .

<u>Id.</u> at 405.

The facts in <u>Agar</u> are similar to the instant case in that Respondent arranged for a witness to testify under a false name and had good reason to know that Ms. Jackson would so testify. Although an officer of the court, Respondent never notified the judge of the fraud. Further, Respondent failed under repeated questioning by the judge during the charge conference, to reveal the fraud upon the court. Indeed, after defense counsel revealed the fraud, Respondent engaged in prosecutorial gamesmanship by protesting that the witness had not testified falsely, because "Gracie Greggs" was her Customs name and because neither the prosecution nor the defense had ever asked the witness to state her true name.

Although the State Attorney's Office elected not to bring charges of perjury or solicitation to commit perjury against Respondent in the instant case, as were brought against Agar, Respondent's misconduct was arguably more egregious than Agar's misconduct. Agar represented a party in an uncontested civil divorce, while Respondent was a federal prosecutor seeking a conviction for a serious crime, potentially justifying a lengthy incarceration.

As this Court held in <u>Agar</u> at 406, the question is not whether the testimony is capable of affecting the outcome of the case. Respondent testified that she did not deem Ms. Jackson's identity material, because she was a mere "records custodian" of documented online communications and that "the credibility of a records custodian has really never been an issue in any of [her] trials." (TT 94). As in <u>Agar</u>, the relevant point in the instant case is that Respondent, like Agar, admitted that she allowed her witness to testify under a false name. Respondent also testified that she alone decided and advised Ms. Jackson that she could testify under the name "Gracie Greggs." (TT 77 - 79; 85).

Despite significant mitigation found by the Referee as discussed below, the instant case is not an appropriate exception to the general rule of strict discipline. In fact, as an experienced criminal prosecutor, Respondent had a heightened ethical duty to maintain the integrity of the criminal justice system. As stated in <u>United</u> <u>States v. Lopez</u>, 765 F. Supp. 1433 (N.D. Cal. 1991), vacated, 4 F.3d 1455 (9th Cir. 1993):

A prosecutor 'has more direct power over the lives, property and reputations of those in [his] jurisdiction than anyone else in this nation . . . ' In light of the prosecutor's tremendous power and the fundamental individual rights at stake in criminal prosecutions, 'the character, quality, efficiency of the whole [criminal justice] system is shaped in great measure by the manner in which the prosecutor exercises his or her broad discretionary powers.'

<u>Id.</u> at 1449 (alterations in original) (footnotes omitted). In the instant case, Respondent was a seasoned prosecutor who had a highly successful career as an Assistant State Attorney in Hillsborough County for more than twelve years before becoming an Assistant United States Attorney in 1997. (TT 30).

This Court has held that "a public reprimand should be reserved for isolated instances of neglect, lapses of judgment, or technical violations of trust accounting rules without willful intent." <u>The Florida Bar v. Schultz</u>, 712 So.2d 386, 388 (Fla. 1998). The Referee in the instant case quite appropriately found that Respondent was "fully aware of the requirements of candid disclosure to the court and defense counsel and the reasons in justice for that candor." (RR 4, at III. A.).

Respondent knew that Adria Jackson was the informant's true name and yet deliberately introduced her to the court, jury and defense counsel as "Gracie Greggs." (RR 4). Respondent further perpetuated the fraud upon the court by allowing the witness to present herself to the court, jury and defense counsel as "Gracie Greggs." (RR 4). Even more troubling, Respondent assisted Ms. Jackson in concealing her true name by listing her on the witness list as "Gracie Greggs," and by cleverly crafting the question "Are you Gracie Greggs?" instead of a more common question such as "Would you please state your name?" (RR 4). In fact, Respondent further suggested that "Gracie Greggs" was a true name by asking "Are you also Katie16140?" after having asked "Are you Gracie Greggs?" because "Katie16140" was clearly an alias.

Many of the character witnesses testifying on Respondent's behalf said they believed Respondent's conduct was attributable to a mistake and an aberration. (RR 7). However, under the facts of this case, Respondent's conduct was clearly contemplated and deliberate, from the preparation of the witness list and throughout the trial, until the ruse was finally revealed to the court by the defense. Because Respondent's conduct was not the result of a single, momentary lapse in judgment, a public reprimand is clearly inappropriate. Respondent knew her ethical responsibilities and deliberately chose to ignore them.

The discipline imposed on a Respondent must correspond the serious nature of the misconduct and serve to deter others who might be inclined toward similar misconduct. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Lord</u>, 433 So.2d 983, 986 (Fla.1983), this Court defined the objectives of Bar discipline as follows:

Discipline for unethical conduct by a member of The Florida Bar must

serve three purposes: First, the judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue harshness in imposing a penalty. Second, the judgment must be fair to the respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation. Third, *the judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become involved in like violations*. (Court's emphasis).

As aptly stated by the Referee in the instant case, "candor and honesty by trial lawyers with the court is the glue that holds the American system of justice together." (RR 5). This truth, coupled with the enormous power of the position of a federal prosecutor, mandates that the deliberate ethical misconduct in the instant receive a severe sanction. A harsh discipline is warranted and necessary to protect the public, encourage reformation, and to deter others who might be tempted to commit similar acts of misconduct. A public reprimand is not sufficient to accomplish these goals.

The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions provide a format for Bar Counsel, referees, and this Court to determine the appropriate sanction in attorney disciplinary matters. The Standards that appear applicable in the instant case are discussed below.

Standard 5.11(f) provides that, absent aggravating and mitigating circumstances, "[d]isbarment is appropriate when a lawyer engages in any other

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