FILED DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX APR 2 5 2000 5 9 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THEFLORIDABAR, Complainant, vs.	CASE NO. 96,217 TFB No. 98-11,584(13A)
KARENSCHMIDCOX, Respondent.	
ANSWERRR	RIEFOFRESPONDENT

DAVID A. MANEY, ESQUIRE MANEY, DAMSKER & JONES, P.A. Fla. Bar No. 092312 Post Office Box 172009 606 East Madison Street Tampa, Florida 33672-2009 Tel. (813) 228-7371 Fax (813) 223-4846

CERTIFIC TO STYLE

The Respondent certifies that 14 point Times New Roman font is used in this brief. The diskette included herewith has been scanned with **McAfee VirusScan**.

REFERENCES

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should follow Judge Cob's recommendation that the discipline Ms. Cox should receive is a public reprimand. Judge Cobb's recommendation was reached after he had carefully considered the gravity of the ethical violation, the purposes of discipline, the presumptively appropriate sanctions, and the aggravating and mitigating circumstances. The Bar has failed to meet its burden on this appeal that the discipline recommended has no reasonable basis in existing case law.

ARGUMENT

JUDGE COBB'S RECOMMENDATION SHOULD BE FOLLOWED BECAUSE THE BAR HAS FAILED TO OVERCOME ITS PRESUMPTION OF CORRECTNESS AND HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THE RECOMMENDATION IS NOT REASONABLY SUPPORTED BY EXISTING CASE LAW.

Judge Cobb's recommendation was made after a thorough consideration of the existing case law and the circumstances of this particular case. The Bar has failed to demonstrate that Judge Cobb's recommendation is clearly erroneous or that it is not reasonably supported by the existing case law. Accordingly, this Court should follow Judge Cobb's recommendation.

When determining the appropriate sanction to impose the Court considers, among other things the existence of aggravating or mitigating circumstances. Judge Cobb carefully considered and addressed the aggravating and mitigating factors he found to exist in this case. **See** RR.

1. Aggravating Factor

Judge Cobb found only one aggravating factor to exist, that Ms. Cox had substantial experience in the practice of law (Standard 9.22(i)). RR-6. Judge Cobb did not indicate the weight he attributed to that factor. Id. Ms. Cox had been a lawyer for more than thirteen years at the time of the Sterba trial, however, as the Bar established during the hearing on discipline, there is a great difference between the practice of criminal law in federal court and the practice of criminal law in state court, IV-432 ("there is a huge difference in prosecuting and defending criminal cases in state and federal court"). See IV-420. Despite her substantial experience in the practice of law, Ms. Cox had been practicing in federal court for less than a year. See Florida Bar v. Burkich-Burrell, 695 So. 2d 1082, 1084 (Fla. 1995) (lack of experience in personal injury litigation considered as mitigation). Furthermore, Ms. Cox had had very little experience at all in handling cases involving informant witnesses. RIII-293-94. Judge Cobb was aware of Ms. Cox's inexperience in these areas of the law in making his recommendation to this Court.

The Bar contended before Judge Cobb that he should find Ms. Cox's special duties as a prosecutor to be an aggravating circumstance. RV-593. Judge Cobb rejected the contention and did not make the finding. See RR. Despite Judge Cobb's rejection of this argument, the Bar now urges this Court to consider this to be an aggravating factor. Bar's brief at 19. Ms. Cox's actions in this case were neither motivated by a desire to violate the defendant's rights nor to strengthen the case of the United States; as Judge Cobb found, Ms. Cox "... believed that the use of an assumed name for the witness would not be any impediment to justice in her cause." RR-6. Judge Cobb found that Ms. Cox acted in what she thought was the best interest of her witness. Id. The Bar has not alleged or demonstrated, as it must, that Judge Cobb erred in refusing to **find** this alleged aggravating circumstance existed, but merely suggests that this Court "might also consider in aggravation, Respondent's special duties as a criminal prosecutor." Bar's brief at 19. The Bar has thus failed to establish a sufficient basis for this Court to substitute its judgment for that of the referee. See Florida Bar v. Spann, 682 So. 2d 1070, 1073 (F.a. 1996).

2. The Mitigating factors

Judge Cobb found that six factors mitigated Ms. Cox's discipline: (1) absence of prior disciplinary record (Standard 9.32(a)); (2) absence of a dishonest or selfish motive (9.32(b)); (3) full and free disclosure to the disciplinary board or cooperative

attitude toward proceedings (9.32(e)); (4) character or reputation (9.32(g)); (5) imposition of other penalties or sanctions (9.32(k)); and, (6) remorse (9.32(l)).

The record support for each of the mitigating factors is extensive, and the Bar does not now suggest that Judge Cobb's findings as to the existence of these factors was in error.

A. Absence of Prior Disciplinary Record (Standard 9.32(a))

To the extent that Ms. Cox's more than thirteen years as a lawyer should be considered to be an aggravating factor, that she has maintained an unblemished disciplinary record throughout certainly should also be considered to substantially mitigate this isolated incident of misconduct. See Florida Bar v. Adler, 589 So. 2d 899, 900 (Fla. 199 1) (the Court "deals more severely with cumulative misconduct than with isolated misconduct.").

B. Absence of a Dishonest or Selfish Motive (Standard 9.32(b))

Judge Cobb's finding of the absence of a dishonest or selfish motive, a finding that the Bar has not challenged, should be given great weight, since the misconduct involved a violation of the duty of candor. Judge Cobb found in this regard that "[a]lthough Ms. Cox's actions violated her duty of candor her motivation was not to lie or to conceal evidence from the court or the defense, and her motivation was not to personally benefit in any manner," and Ms. Cox "acted (albeit without reflection) in

what she thought was the best interest of her witness," and that Ms. Cox did not believe "that the use of an assumed name for the witness would be any impediment to justice in her cause," RR-6.

There is no support for any suggestion that Ms. Cox was acting for her own benefit, and she was certainly not attempting to gain an advantage or to strengthen her case. &Bar's brief at 18 ("... it appears that the Respondent may have acted for her own benefit"). Her misconduct was not motivated by a desire for a conviction; rather it was motivated by "concern for the informant," RR-3, and she "did not intend to deceive the United States District Court before which she was practicing on any matter of substantial justice," RR-6; see also, RV-553 (Ms. Cox did not do this to gain advantage; she was trying to help a woman she didn't even know), RV-556 (Ms. Cox did not do this because of desire to win; she did this because witness was very fearful of her ex-husband).

C. Full and Free Disclosure to the Disciplinary Board or Cooperative Attitude Toward Proceedings (Standard 9.32(e))

The Bar expressly asserted to Judge Cobb that this factor was present. Ms. Cox demonstrated a cooperative attitude toward the proceedings by appearing voluntarily for deposition, assisting the Bar in obtaining access to the United States Attorneys Office's file regarding this case, and voluntarily disclosing to Bar counsel that she had

personal and professional relationships with two of the members of the grievance committee who had been assigned to review the matter. RV-566-67. Furthermore, although Ms. Cox was deposed, testified three times during the course of the hearings, and discussed the case with her supervisors and associates, the Bar has never suggested that her testimony has ever changed, or that it conflicted with the accounts of any of the other witnesses. RV-567, see RV-546 (Ms. Cox's version of events has never varied)

D. Character or Reputation (Standard 9.32(g))

As to Ms. Cox's character and reputation Judge Cobb found:

From the testimony presented by the respondent at the hearing on December 30, 1999 it is apodictic that her character is excellent and her reputation is unsullied except for this instance. . , . She had a very impressive list of state and federal judges, law enforcement officers, and associates who willingly testified that she is intelligent, candid, hardworking, always well-prepared, courteous, professional, admired, respected and dedicated to our system of justice. Several testified that they are convinced that this conduct was a mistake and an aberration.

RR-7.

The referee's finding that Ms. Cox's character or reputation was a factor mitigating the sanction was based, in part, upon the testimony of eight judges, and the affidavit of another. RR-7. Some of the judges volunteered to testify on Ms. Cox's

behalf before having been asked. RV-466, 586-88 (affidavit of Judge Evans published in part). All of the judges testified that despite the misconduct in this case they would welcome her to appear before them in the future and that she had never given them reason to question her honesty. RIV-444, 452-53; RV-473, 480-81, 488-89, 494-95, 501.

The mere fact that eight judges were willing to travel from Hillsborough County to Dade City and invested their personal time to attend a lengthy hearing during the holidays (December 30th) is a testament to their opinion of Ms. Cox's character. Most of the judges who testified had known Ms. Cox for her entire legal career, More importantly, none of the judges knew Ms. Cox or her family prior to Ms. Cox having begun the practice of law in Hillsborough County. RV-549-50. Two of the judges who testified had, as defense attorneys, tried cases against Ms. Cox and stated that not only had she always treated them fairly, but that she had an excellent reputation among criminal defense attorneys. RV-492,499. Likewise, Ms. Cox's previous and current supervisors, as well as the law enforcement officers who had worked with her, attested to her character.

E. <u>Imposition of Other Penalties or Sanctions (Standard 9.32(k))</u>

In this regard, this case is unusual. As a federal prosecutor, Ms. Cox is subject to the scrutiny and discipline of the Office of Professional Responsibility (OPR), a division of the Department of Justice which, among other things, investigates and sanctions instances of attorney misconduct RII-243; RV-568-69. Ordinarily when a complaint has been made **as** the result of conduct occurring in a federal proceeding in federal court and the conduct is being investigated by OPR, the state bar will not pursue the matter in state grievance proceedings. RV-570-7 1; **see** RII-248-49. In fact, the former head of OPR was unaware of any instance where the state bar had refused to defer to OPR. RV-569-70. This case is the exception. The federal government, after conducting its own investigation, determined the appropriate sanction was two weeks of unpaid leave. RV-569.

F. Remorse (Standard 9.32(1))

Ms. Cox has accepted responsibility for her actions, has recognized the seriousness of her misconduct, and will always be scrupulously honest in her representations to the court. Judge Cobb, after having heard from Ms. Cox, found that Ms. Cox is sincerely remorseful, fully grasps the serious import of her conduct and truly regrets her actions. RR-7. Judge Cobb stated that "I believe her when she says that her remorse stems not only from the embarrassment it has caused her personally

but also from the embarrassment it has caused to her profession as a lawyer and prosecutor." **Id.** This remorse is entitled to great weight as a mitigating factor because it establishes that punishment is unnecessary to assure that Ms. Cox will never again engage in similar conduct. **See** RV-588 (affidavit of Judge Evans) (Ms. Cox has already suffered enormously and it is doubtful that further sanctions will have any more impact upon her than has already occurred).

Although in cases involving misrepresentation to the court the discipline imposed has ranged from public reprimands to disbarment, many of this Court's decisions establish not only that Judge Cobb's recommendation is not clearly off the mark, but that a public reprimand and a term of probation are indeed the appropriate sanctions in this case. Judge Cobb stated:

Considering the misconduct and the aggravations and mitigations, a public reprimand and probation seem to be proportional with other similar disciplinary cases. Ms. Broida was found to have engaged in a long and continuing list of violations including "continuously misrepresenting facts to the court" and "Personally attacking the integrity of multiple lawyers and judges with whom Respondent has come in contact." The Florida Bar v. Broida, 574 So. 2d 83, 86 (Fla. 1991). She was suspended from the practice of law for one year. Mr. Cibula lied to the court about his annual income fully intending to thwart the administration of justice and personally benefit therefrom. There were no mitigations found by the referee yet Mr. Cibula received only 91 days suspension [from] the practice of law. The Florida Bar v. Cibula, 725 So. 2d 360 (Fla. 1999). Intending to mislead

the court and thwart justice, Mr. Kravitz lied to the court and tried to extort money from his client and received a suspension of 30 days. The Florida Bar v. Kravitz, 694 So. 2d 725 (Fla. 1997). It does not appear that Mr. Kravitz benefitted from any mitigation except a clean prior disciplinary record. Mrs. Cox benefits from a clean prior disciplinary record and five other significant mitigations.

RR-8.

The facts of this case are unique; therefore, no case specifically addresses this particular conduct with the same aggravating and mitigating circumstances. A review of the cases is instructive, however, because it demonstrates that in cases involving a violation of the duty of candor, the Court's sanctions have ranged from reprimands to disbarment. Accordingly, since Judge Cobb's recommendation falls within the range, it is not clearly erroneous

Indeed, there is ample basis in existing case law to support the imposition of a reprimand in this case. This Court on many occasions has disciplined attorneys who made false statements to courts or demonstrated a deliberate lack of candor with reprimands. See, e.g., Florida Bar v. Anderson, 538 So. 2d 852 (Fla. 1989) (imposing public reprimand on Anderson for patent misrepresentations to the appellate court in a brief, making extended argument based on the inaccurate facts, and for failing to correct misrepresentations even when brought to her attention in motion for sanctions but instead responding by accusing opposing counsel with attempting to obfuscate and

deceive the court); Florida Bar v. Fatolitis, 546 So. 2d 1054 (Fla. 1989) (imposing public reprimand for forging wife's name as a witness); Florida Bar v. Wright, 520 So. 2d 269 (Fla. 1988) (imposing public reprimand for lying during discovery); Florida Bar v. McLawhorn, 535 So. 2d 602 (Fla. 1988) (imposing public reprimand for false statements in traverse despite the fact that attorney had been publicly reprimanded the year before for conduct involving misrepresentations); Florida Bar v. Sax, 530 So. 2d 284 (Fla. 1988) (imposing public reprimand for submission of false pleading that was improperly notarized); Florida Bar v. Batman, 511 So. 2d 558 (Fla. 1987) (imposing public reprimand for testifying falsely); Florida Bar v. Hagglund 372 So. 2d 76 (Fla. 1979) (imposing public reprimand for filing false affidavit in lawsuit against former client); Florida Rar v. Pearce 356 So. 2d 317 (Fla. 1978) (imposing public reprimand for knowing of and participating in plans for witnesses to perjure themselves); Florida Bar v. Brooks, 336 So. 2d 359 (Fla. 1976) (imposing public reprimand for falsely testifying before coroner's inquest to avoid potential discipline for trespassing or attempting to steal a hog); Florida Bar v. King, 174 So. 2d 398 (Fla. 1965) (imposing public reprimand for knowingly and willfully testifying falsely under oath before a grand jury regarding incident of bribery during attorney's campaign for state senate and for not attempting to dissuade two witnesses **from** perjuring themselves for his benefit).

⁶Anderson's co-counsel received a thirty-day suspension, <u>Id.</u> at 854.

See also In re Frank, 2000 WL 183512 (Fla. 2000) (in judicial disciplinary hearing, public reprimand appropriate for judicial officer who initiated a proceeding and then provided false or misleading testimony compromising the integrity of the system). Thus, Judge Cobb's recommendation is more than reasonably supported by existing case law, and the Bar can not demonstrate otherwise.

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